RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-08-2014

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW ALLEN LILEK,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Case No. 2014AP784-CR

Trial Case No. 2008CF002852 (Milwaukee Co.)

APPEALED FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED ON APRIL 13, 2010, FROM THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S POST-CONVICTION MOTION ENTERED ON AUGUST 6, 2012, HON. REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING, AND FROM THE ORDER DENYING MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA FILED APRIL 1, 2014, HON. STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the State prove by clear and convincing evidence that Matthew entered his plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently?

The trial court denied the defendant's motion.

2. Did the court erroneously exercise its discretion when it sentenced the defendant?

The circuit court denied the defendant's post conviction motion.

3. Did the court lose competency to proceed, or in the alternative erroneously exercise its discretion, when it continued Matthew's competency hearing over objection?

This issue was not addressed by the trial court.

STATEMENT ON NECESSITY OF ORAL ARGUMENT & PUBLICATION OF OPINION

Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument. The issues presented can be fully argued in the parties' briefs. We believe, given the individual characteristics of the defendant, that the case warrants consideration for publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE STATEMENT OF FACTS

Matthew Lilek is a 44 year old first offender presently serving a 35 year sentence for 2nd Degree Sexual

Assault and Aggravated Battery. His convictions arose out of an incident that allegedly occurred on May 31, 2008 at the Badger Home for the Blind, where Matthew and the alleged victim were residents. Matthew's criminal case was initially assigned to Judge M. Joseph Donald, transferred to Judge Carl Ashley, with the ultimate sentencing presided over by Judge Rebecca Dallet. The criminal complaint was filed on June 5, 2008 (R. 2). Matthew entered his plea on January 14, 2010. His sentencing was held on April 12, 2010 (R. 123). Much of the delay in the resolution of the case can be attributed to issues regarding Matthew's competency. Competency was placed in issue by his attorney on July 11, 2008 (R. 5). Matthew was found to be competent on May 13, 2009 (R. 115:93). An NGI plea was also considered, and evaluations were completed. An NGI plea was not pursued.

According to documents submitted to the court, Matthew was born on February 8, 1967. He has been certified as legally blind and has received services for blindness throughout his life (R. 8:2, R. 30). Matthew has also suffered from multiple other disabilities.

At age three months Matthew suffered from encephalitis and acute inflammation of his brain. This was diagnosed as a chronic neurological disorder which caused reoccurring seizures. Controlling his seizures has been a life-long

challenge. Multiple drug treatments through various doctors have been tried over the course of Matthew's lifetime (R. 46:2).

In 1997 Matthew underwent a procedure that involved mapping his brain to locate the cause of his seizures. A partial frontal lobectomy was performed. There was a complication and Matthew experienced a fluid build-up on his brain. He was in intensive care for three weeks and released from the hospital after two months. His seizures stopped for three years but then he started experiencing them again (R. 52:10).

In 2004 he underwent the same procedure that was performed in 1997. Again, a portion of Matthew's frontal lobe was removed, but the procedure did not alleviate his seizures. Since that procedure, Matthew was placed back on medications in an attempt to control or stop his seizures. Those medications have included experimental medications.

In addition to his seizure disorder, Matthew is cognitively disabled. Matthew cooperated with psychological testing as part of a competency evaluation performed by Dr. Eric Knudson at Mendota Mental Health Institute. It was not possible to obtain a full scale IQ because of his blindness, but his verbal IQ was measured at 75. Because available records showed "substantial adaptive functioning"

difficulties" it was determined that his cognitive functioning should be viewed in the range of mild mental retardation (R 8:4.)

Matthew also has a long history of psychiatric care. There is a letter to Judge Ashley in the record, dated October 13, 2008 from Dr. Lance Longo. Dr. Longo indicated that Matthew, at that time, had been under the Dr.'s care for approximately three years. Dr. Longo noted Matthew had a long and extensive history of brain abnormalities leading to his intractable seizure disorder and psychiatric illness. It was noted that Matthew had a diagnosis of schizoaffective disorder (R. 31).

Matthew has consistently been described as childish and immature, functioning at the level of a 12 year old. (R. 52:12).

Matthew lived with his mother while growing up, however he spent three years at the Oconomowoc Training Center as an adolescent (R. 8). He was placed there under a CHIPS order. After the court lost jurisdiction over him, his mother was named guardian (R. 15). Included in the record was a competency evaluation done of Matthew in 1985 by Dr. Stephen F. Emily for guardianship purposes. The report detailed Matthew's seizure history at that time, as

well as his blindness, diminished mental capacity and psychiatric issues (R. 14).

At the time of the offense he was living independently at the Hawley Ridge Apartments provided by the Badger Association for the Blind with a great deal of support from his mother. (R. 114:77-79).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case commenced with the filing of a three-count criminal complaint on June 5, 2008. The complaint alleged one count of 2nd degree sexual assault by use of threat of force or violence, one count of aggravated battery, and one count of burglary. The complaint detailed allegations that Matthew assaulted a fellow resident at Hawley Ridge Apartments. The victim was described in the complaint as years old, legally blind and hearing impaired. According to the complaint the victim was at home in her apartment when her doorbell rang. She allowed the man entry into her apartment believing that it was her son. Upon entry into her apartment, the man groped her and sexually assaulted her. At one point, it is alleged that the man carried the victim into the bathroom, put her in the bathtub, and started running water over her feet, then

continued to assault her. During the assault the doorbell rang again and the man ran away (R. 2).

A preliminary hearing was held on June 16, 2008. Probable cause was found. Matthew was bound over for trial. An Information was filed. Matthew entered a not guilty plea (R. 98).

A bail hearing was held on June 19, 2008. At that hearing it was noted that at both Matthew's initial appearance and preliminary hearing Sheriff's deputies had to escort him due to his blindness, once in a wheelchair for his safety and once holding the deputy's shoulder (R. 99).

A status conference was held on July 11, 2008. At that time Matthew's attorney requested a competency examination. The court ordered that an examination be done by the forensic unit. The case was scheduled for an August 20, 2008 hearing for a return on the doctor's report (R. 100).

At the August 20, 2008 hearing, the court indicated that Dr. Erik Knudson did not reach a conclusion. Dr. Knudson wanted more information from Matthew's physician (R. 101).

The record reflects that Dr. Knudson filed a report on August 28, 2008. The report found Matthew not competent and not likely to regain competence (R. 12).

On September 16, 2008 a hearing was to be held. Matthew refused to go to court. The court determined it could not proceed. At the hearing, the State requested a second examination pursuant to sec. 971.14(2) Wis. Stats. (R. 102). Papers filed that day by the defense included the 1985 report from Dr. Stephen Emiley (R. 14), 1988 and 1989 Social Services reports (R. 15, 16, 17), a 1994 report from Randall L. Daut, PhD. (R. 18), and a 2008 Aurora Sinai Medical Center report dated June 5, 2008 (R. 19). The reports detailed Matthew's long history of disabilities, diagnosis and treatment.

At a hearing on September 25, 2008, the court was informed that the forensic unit would not conduct a second examination. The unit was concerned that there might be an appearance of "doctor shopping". Matthew's defense attorney raised the issue of the delays in the case, and indicated that they did not challenge the report of Dr. Knudson. Counsel requested that the hearing proceed. The State requested that Dr. Anthony Jurek conduct a second examination of the defendant. The case was adjourned to September 30, 2008 for further proceedings (R. 102).

On October 15, 2008 a report was filed by Dr. Jurek. Dr. Jurek recommended that Matthew should be treated, and then reassessed (R. 28). At a hearing that day the court ordered that Matthew be reexamined by Dr. Knudson and by Dr. Jurek at Mendota Mental Health (R. 105).

A hearing was held on October 31, 2008 (R. 106). At that hearing the court received an addendum from Dr. Jurek to his earlier report. Dr. Jurek found Matthew competent to proceed (R. 106:11-12).

On November 18, 2008 Dr. Knudson filed a report dated November 17, 2008. He had reassessed his earlier position after considering recordings of Matthew talking to his mother while in custody. His conclusion was that Matthew was competent to stand trial, although he described it as a close case. He detailed a number of areas where Matthew would have difficulty assisting his attorney and understanding the process. For example, Dr. Knudson felt that Matthew did not understand the elements of the offenses. (R. 36).

On December 3, 2008 a hearing was held. The defense challenged the reports of Dr. Jurek and Dr. Knudson. The court adjourned the case for a status on January 12, 2009 and for a competency hearing to be held on January 29, 2009 (R. 107).

On February 27, 2009 and May 11, 2009 reports were filed by Dr. Leslie Taylor. Her opinion was that Matthew was not competent and not likely to become competent. Dr. Taylor had been hired by the defense (R. 39, R. 40).

On January 29, 2009 the competency hearing commenced. Matthew had an outburst during the hearing and was warned that he would have to appear by video conference if he had another one. At one point the hearing was adjourned until the afternoon. When the case was recalled the court noted that, when a deputy went to get Matthew for the afternoon hearing, Matthew was standing on a table asking for chips and a candy bar. A new date was obtained for a continued hearing (R. 109, 110).

On May 11, 2009 the competency hearing continued. Testimony was taken on May 11, 12, and 13. Matthew was ultimately found competent to proceed (R. 112,113,114,115).

On June 25, 2009 Attorney Kohn was substituted in for Attorney Nistler. An NGI plea was entered. Dr. Kenneth Smail was ordered to conduct an examination (R. 117).

On July 28, 2009 the parties were informed the case was being assigned to Judge Rebecca Dallet (R. 1:16).

On November 3, 2009 Attorney Kohn filed a report from Dr. R. Bronson Levin dated November 1, 2009 (R. 46). Both

Dr. Levin and Dr. Smail agreed that an NGI plea was not appropriate (R. 45, 46).

On January 14, 2010 Matthew appeared with Attorney Kohn and entered no contest pleas to counts 1 and 2. Count 3 was dismissed. The court ordered a PSI. A sentencing hearing was scheduled for March 12, 2010 (R. 114).

On February 15, 2010 a defense motion was filed to adjourn the sentencing scheduled for March 12, 2010 (R. 54).

On March 1, 2010 the motion to adjourn sentencing was The court was informed that the defendant had a protective placement hearing scheduled before Judge Amato on March 29, 2010. Defense counsel requested that the sentencing be scheduled after the civil hearing. The State objected to the adjournment. The court granted the motion, informed the parties there would be but $n \circ$ more adjournments whether the case in Judge DiMotto's court was adjourned or not. The sentencing hearing was scheduled for April 12, 2010 at 8:30 a.m. (R. 122).

On April 8, 2010 a defense motion was filed to adjourn the sentencing hearing. The State filed additional materials for the court to review for sentencing (R. 57, 58).

At the sentencing hearing on April 12, 2010, the defendant's motion to adjourn was denied. The court proceeded with sentencing. Matthew received a controlling sentence of 35 years, consisting of 20 years of initial confinement, followed by 15 years of extended supervision 123). Matthew filed a post-conviction motion to (R. withdraw his plea and for resentencing on June 4, 2012 (R. The court denied Matthew's post-conviction motion without a hearing in a Decision and Order dated August 6, 2012 (R. 94). Matthew appealed. After briefing, the court of appeals remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing on Matthew's motion for plea withdrawal. The court of appeals did not address other issues raised on appeal. A postconviction motion hearing was held on March 25, 2014. After hearing testimony from Matthew's trial attorney, the court denied Matthew's motion. Matthew is now appealing from the judgment of conviction and from the orders denying his post-conviction motions.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE DID NOT PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT MATTHEW ENTERED HIS PLEA VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, AND INTELLIGENTLY.

As mentioned above, this is the second time this case has been before this appellate court. In a post-conviction

motion Matthew alleged that the trial court failed to comply with the requirements of § 971.08 Wis. Stats., State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W. 2d 12 (1986), and State v. Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W. 2d 906, because the trial court did not engage in a meaningful colloquy establishing that he actually understood the elements of the offenses he was pleading to, the constitutional rights he was waiving, the nature of the plea agreement he entered into, and the likely consequences of his plea (R.84). The trial court denied his motion without a hearing (R.94). This court remanded for an evidentiary hearing (R. 125).

Applicable Law

In State v. Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, the Supreme Court observed that the method a circuit court employs ascertain a defendant's understanding should depend upon the circumstances of the particular case, including the level of education of the defendant and the complexity of The court indicated that the charge[s]. defendant's intellectual capacity and education, the more a should do to ensure the defendant knows court understands the essential elements of the charges. Brown at 624, citing State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 267-268.

The Supreme Court in **Brown** noted that **Bangert** requires verification, independent of defense counsel's assertion,

that a defendant understands the nature of the charges.

Brown at 625. To ensure a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea, Bangert requires that a trial judge explore the defendant's capacity to make informed decisions. Brown at ¶30.

In **Brown** the Supreme Court instructed courts to "translate legal generalities into factual specifics when necessary to ensure the defendant's understanding of the charges." **Brown** at 626. The court stated: "(t)his court cannot overemphasize the importance of the trial court's taking great care in ascertaining the defendant's understanding" of the nature of the charges and the constitutional rights being waived. **Brown** at ¶32. The court said:

We reiterate that the duty to comply with the plea hearing procedures falls squarely on the trial judge. We understand that most trial judges are under considerable calendar constraints, but it is of paramount importance that judges devote the time necessary to ensure that a plea meets the constitutional standard. The plea hearing colloquy must not be reduced to a perfunctory exchange. It demands the trial court's "utmost solicitude."

Brown at ¶33.

Complying with the requisite standards is not optional. The method a circuit court employs to ascertain a defendant's understanding should depend upon "the

circumstances of the particular case, including the level of education of the defendant and the complexity of the charges[s]." **Bangert**, 131 Wis. 2d at 267-68. The less a defendant's intellectual capacity and education, the more a court should do to ensure the defendant knows and understands the essential elements of the charges. **Brown** at ¶52.

In our original brief to this court, prior to remand, we quoted at length from the plea transcript. All of what we quoted, and more, was recited in this court's remand opinion, which is in the appendix. This court, in its remand opinion, stated: "Lilek asserts that the circuit court had an obligation to do more than just ask questions seeking "yes" or "no" responses because of his substantial cognitive disabilities. In the context of Lilek's significant disabilities, we agree" (R.125, ¶12).

This court noted that *State v. Howell* instructs that the circuit court's colloquy must go beyond asking mere "yes" or "no" type questions. See *State v. Howell*, 2007 WI 75, 301 Wis.2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48. In discussing *Howell*, this court stated in its remand opinion that:

Howell's admonition is especially pertinent in cases where a defendant's cognitive abilities are substantially impaired, as they are here; a circuit court must take extra steps to make sure the defendant understands all the things that

underlie a valid guilty or no-contest plea. The circuit court did not do that here; most of its questions to Lilek called for a "yes" or "no" answer. And when the circuit court's question did not call for a "yes" or "no," Lilek's non-responsive comments exposed his apparent lack of understanding.

(R. 125, ¶14)

This court went on to state:

Lilek's non-responsive answers, together with the history of his severe and significant cognitive disabilities were blazing red flags that should have triggered the circuit court's vigilance to make sure Lilek really understood what was happening and that he was not just repeating what he either believed or was told he should say. Thus, the circuit court's assertion in its written decision: "there is no indication at the plea hearing that the defendant was confused or did not understand what the court said to him" is not supported by the Record. we have seen, *Howell* emphasized the "paramount importance" of making sure the "plea hearing colloquy [is] not ... reduced to a perfunctory exchange," and "the importance of the trial court's taking great care in ascertaining the defendant's understanding of the nature of the charges and the constitutional rights being waived." Howell, 2007 WI 75, ¶71, 301 Wis. 2d at 383, 734 N.W.2d at 65 (quotation marks, citation and footnote omitted). The Record here shows that the circuit court did exactly what Howell warned against: it engaged in a "perfunctory exchange" and did not take the required "great care" to ensure this cognitively disabled, legally blind, child-like man understood what was going on and what he was doing. Further, Bangert, warns that the "[d]efense counsel may not speak for the defendant; the defendant must affirmatively state his own knowledge understanding when he is capable of doing so." Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 270, 389 N.W.2d at 24. Accordingly, the circuit court erroneously relied on Kohn's statement that Lilek understood what he

was doing instead of getting that information directly from Lilek, as **Bangert** requires.

(R. 125, ¶15)

At the post conviction hearing, the burden shifted to the State to show by clear and convincing evidence that Matthew's plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered, **State v. Bangert**, supra, 131 Wis.2d 246, 274-75, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). At the hearing the State was free to utilize the entire record to demonstrate that the totality of the circumstances show that the defendant knew and understood the relevant constitutional rights, and the plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered, *Id.*, **State v. Bollig**, 2000 WI 6, ¶49, 232 Wis.2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199.

On appellate review, the issue of whether Matthew's plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered is a question of constitutional fact. See State v. Van Camp, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997), ¶15. The Court of Appeals reviews constitutional questions independent of the conclusion of the lower courts. See id.

The Record

What the record shows in this case, is that at the time of the plea hearing, the defendant was 44 years of age, was legally blind, was mentally retarded, had

undergone two brain surgeries with removal of tissue, and was taking medications for treatment of mental illness (R. 84:5).

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