RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-17-2015

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP784-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW ALLEN LILEK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A POST-REMAND POSTCONVICTION MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING LILEK'S POST-SENTENCING MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA.

A. Relevant legal principles.

1. To withdraw his plea post-sentencing, the defendant must demonstrate that plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice.

To withdraw a plea after sentencing, the defendant must meet the heavy burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. State v. Cain, 2012 WI 68, ¶25, 342 Wis.2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177. See also State v. Johnson, 2012 WI App 21, ¶16, 339 Wis.2d 421, 811 N.W.2d 441 (defendant's heavy burden reflects State's substantial interest in finality and recognizes that presumption of innocence no longer exists).

In order to prove a manifest injustice, the defendant must show there was a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea, such as showing he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea. *State v. Trochinski*, 2002 WI 56, ¶15, 253 Wis.2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891; *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906.

After the defendant meets his *prima facie* burden in showing the plea colloquy was defective in some way, the

burden shifts to the State to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary despite the identified defects in the plea colloquy. *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶40. The *Brown* court summarized the rationale behind the *Bangert* burdenshifting procedure:

If a defendant does not understand the nature of the charge and the implications of the plea, he should not be entering the plea, and the court should not be accepting the plea. On the other hand, if a defendant does understand the charge and the effects of his plea, he should not be permitted to game the system by taking advantage of judicial mistakes.

Id. ¶37.

Thus, the issue at the *Bangert* hearing is no longer whether the plea should have been accepted in the first instance, but whether the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his plea for a manifest injustice. *Cain*, 342 Wis.2d 1, ¶30 (while plea may have been invalid at time it was entered, it may be inappropriate, in light of later events, to allow plea withdrawal).

To satisfy its evidentiary burden, the State may refer to the totality of the record, and much evidence will be found outside the plea hearing record. *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶40. For example, the State may present testimony of the defendant and defense counsel to establish the defendant's understanding. *Id.* The State may also utilize the plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form, documentary evidence, recorded statements, and transcripts of prior hearings to satisfy its burden. *Id.*

Importantly, the State may also show the defendant's understanding by using evidence that occurred <u>after</u> the plea took place, including the sentencing hearing. *Cain*, 342 Wis.2d 1, ¶¶29-31. It "would simply not make sense to vacate a conviction as the result of an error at a plea hearing when later proceedings unambiguously demonstrate that the error did not give rise to a manifest injustice and that the plea was valid." *Id.* ¶31.

If the State cannot meet its burden in showing that the plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, the defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea as a matter of right. *State v. Cross*, 2010 WI 70, ¶20, 326 Wis.2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64; *State v. Hoppe*, 2009 WI 41, ¶44, 317 Wis.2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794. If, however, the State carries its burden of proof that the guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, the plea remains valid unless the defendant can show a manifest injustice has occurred. *Id*.

2. This court reviews the circuit court's discretionary decision by looking to the totality of the record in determining whether a manifest injustice occurred.

Whether a plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶19. This court accepts the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but independently determines whether those facts demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Id.* Moreover, the circuit court, not this court, determines witness credibility at a *Bangert* hearing. *State v. Plank*, 2005 WI App 109, ¶11, 282 Wis.2d 522, 699 N.W.2d 235.

If, however, the State meets its burden in showing that the plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, post-sentencing withdrawal of a plea is left to the circuit court's discretion, and will not be disturbed on appeal unless the defendant demonstrates that a manifest injustice will result from the court's refusal to allow the plea to be withdrawn. *Cross*, 326 Wis.2d 492, ¶20. In determining whether the defendant has shown manifest injustice, this court should consider the entire record. *Id.* ¶43. *See also State v. Payette*, 2008 WI App 106, ¶35, 313 Wis.2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423 (when ample basis exists in record to support circuit court's decision to deny defendant's plea withdrawal motion, this court should uphold decision that no manifest injustice has resulted).

B. The State Met its Burden in Showing That Lilek Entered His Plea Knowingly, Voluntarily, and Intelligently.

Lilek argues that the State did not meet its burden of showing, by clear and convincing evidence, that he knowingly entered his plea (Lilek's brief at 11-30). But the postconviction court properly relied on Lilek counsel's testimony in determining that the State had met its burden.¹

¹Lilek also contends that the plea colloquy was insufficient (Lilek's brief at 14-19). Because this court ordered an evidentiary hearing based on the insufficient plea colloquy, the State assumes this court will again find that the original plea colloquy was insufficient, in and of itself, to show Lilek's understanding. On remand, however, the State can rely on the totality of the record, including the plea colloquy, in showing Lilek's understanding.

1. The postconviction court properly relied on Attorney Kohn's testimony in establishing Lilek's understanding.

Lilek first argues that the postconviction court impermissibly relied on his counsel's assertions to determine what Lilek understood (Lilek's brief at 28-29). But this argument has no basis in law.

Although the plea court may not rely solely on counsel's assertions to establish the defendant's understanding, see Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 270, the postconviction court can. Id. at 274-75. Bangert and its progeny are clear that, after the defendant has met his prima facie burden in showing the plea colloquy's defectiveness, the State may utilize any evidence at the postconviction hearing that substantiates the plea was knowingly and voluntarily made, including an examination of defendant's counsel to shed light on the defendant's understanding. Id. See also Brown, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶40: Hoppe, 317 Wis.2d 161, ¶47; Cain, 342 Wis.2d 1, ¶¶31-32.

Thus, the postconviction court properly relied on the entire record, including Attorney Kohn's testimony, in determining that Lilek entered his plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently (132:69 [A-Ap. 125]).

2. The totality of the record, including Attorney Kohn's testimony, showed that Lilek entered his plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently.

Lilek next argues that his counsel's testimony did not dispel the concerns raised by the inadequate plea colloquy because counsel could not "vouch for" Lilek's understanding at the time of the plea (Lilek's brief at 29). Specifically, Lilek argues that Attorney Kohn's testimony did not shed any light on Lilek's "confusion" surrounding the nature of the offenses, the length of his sentence and the amount of monetary penalties, and the medications that he took (*id.* at 25-26). But these arguments have no basis in fact.

a. Lilek understood the elements of the offenses, the nature of the charges, and the rights he was waiving.

Contrary to Lilek's contention (Lilek's brief at 25-26), Attorney Kohn did not testify that he could not remember whether he discussed the definition of sexual contact with Lilek (132:40-42 [R-Ap. 136-138]). Rather, he testified that he could not specifically remember which jury instruction he took with him to the discussion with Lilek (*id.*). But he testified he <u>did</u> remember explaining the concept of sexual contact to Lilek (132:20-21 [R-Ap. 116-117]). They also discussed Lilek's motivation for the sexual assault (132:21-22 [R-Ap. 117-118]), the elements of sexual contact, and the victim's lack of consent (132:23-24 [R-Ap. 119-120]).

Regarding the battery, they first talked about how when Lilek "carried [the victim] into the bathroom and put her into the bath tub [sic], [Lilek] agreed that that ... probably would have hurt her" (132:27 [R-Ap. 123]). Lilek also "indicated that he knew [the victim] had not agreed to have him in the apartment or do the things that he was doing" (132:24 [R-Ap. 120]).

Attorney Kohn's *Bangert* testimony was entirely consistent with Lilek's plea hearing colloquy testimony,

where Lilek acknowledged that he understood that sexual contact was an intentional touching, because he was "told exactly that by my attorney" (121:11). Lilek also acknowledged that he intentionally touched the victim's breast and vagina, either directly or through clothing, with the intent to become sexually aroused or gratified (121:11-12).

Kohn's Attorney Bangert testimony also consistent with his remarks at the plea hearing that Lilek understood that Lilek's conduct—physically forcing the victim into the bathtub—caused her to sustain injuries rising to the level of aggravated battery, even though Lilek did not hit her (121:21-22). As Attorney Kohn told the plea court, Lilek acknowledged that he had ripped off the victim's clothing, physically forced her into the bathtub, and sustained injuries from Lilek's actions, rising to the level of battery (121:22). Attorney Kohn also told the plea court that Lilek "understands and admits that he did commit acts which fit all of the elements of those two counts" (121:16).

Also consistent with his remarks at the plea hearing that Lilek understood the rights he was giving up (121:17-18), Attorney Kohn testified at the *Bangert* hearing that he believed, at the time of the plea, that Lilek truly did understand the very basic rights he was giving up (132:20 [R-Ap. 116]). Indeed, Lilek independently brought up various episodes of "Matlock" and was able to analogize his rights and the trial process thereto (132:31 [R-Ap. 127]).

In finding that Lilek understood the elements of the crimes, the nature of the offenses, and the rights he was giving up, the postconviction court called Attorney Kohn's testimony "helpful and enlightening" in showing Lilek's

"particular level" of understanding (132:74 [A-Ap. 130]). The postconviction court also found that Attorney Kohn was "truthfully able to answer" that Lilek understood the plea court's questions (*id.*). In contrast, the postconviction court found that Lilek's argument as to his lack of knowledge was "very speculative" (132:69 [A-Ap. 125]).

This court should not disturb the circuit court's explicit credibility determinations, and should uphold the postconviction court's ruling that Lilek possessed the requisite knowledge and understanding for a valid plea. *Plank*, 282 Wis.2d 522, ¶11 (circuit court determines witness credibility).

b. Lilek understood the length of his sentence, the monetary penalties, and the medications he took.

Lilek next argues that Attorney Kohn's testimony did not shed any light on the "confusion" surrounding the length of his sentence, the amount of monetary penalties, and the medications he took (Lilek's brief at 25-26, 29-30). Although Attorney Kohn did not recall any specific examples of misunderstandings (132:43-44 [R-Ap. 139-140]), the plea colloquy itself defeats Lilek's claims.

For example, with respect to the maximum penalties, the plea court told Lilek that he was subject to a maximum fine of \$100,000 and a maximum imprisonment of 40 years (121:4). Lilek responded that he was originally told the fine was \$5,000, and the court responded that \$100,000 was the maximum fine, and 40 years of imprisonment, or both (*id.*). Upon being asked if he understood, Lilek replied, "Yes, but it

was told originally. I'm just telling you what I was told" (121:5).

The plea court then ascertained that Lilek and his counsel had spent approximately three hours going through the maximum penalties, after which counsel wrote down the maximum penalties on the plea questionnaire (121:5). The plea court then had the following exchange with Lilek:

THE COURT: And you understand that of the 40 years, I could give you 25 years that you would initially serve in prison, and I could give you a maximum of 15 years after that for supervision; do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, but I spent 20 months here also.

THE COURT: Okay. That is good to know.

(121:5-6).

Based on the plea colloquy and Attorney Kohn's testimony at the *Bangert* hearing, the postconviction court found that Lilek understood the maximum penalties, the items on the plea form, and the no contest pleas and guilty pleas (132:72-73 [A-Ap. 128-129]). Lilek did not just parrot "yes" or "no," but interjected when he misunderstood the amount of the fine, and when he wanted the court to know that he had already spent 20 months in prison (132:75 [A-Ap. 131]). The postconviction court also properly found that the plea court had "adequately addressed and cleared up" the alleged confusion about monetary amount of the penalty (132:74 [A-Ap. 130]).

Regarding Lilek's medication, the plea court found that Lilek had said in no uncertain terms that his medication did not interfere with his ability to understand what was going on, and that he understood everything that was going on (94:3; 121:9-10).

c. Lilek had the requisite understanding at the time he entered his plea.

Finally, Lilek argues that his counsel's *Bangert* testimony corroborates Lilek's assertion that Lilek does not retain information after it is presented to him, such that his plea was unknowing at the time it was entered (Lilek's brief at 25-29). But Attorney Kohn's undisputed testimony shows that Lilek was able to retain information and understood the relevant concepts at the time the plea was entered.

Attorney Kohn testified that once he took "a long time" to explain concepts to Lilek, he believed that Lilek could understand the basic concepts of "what certain words meant, what different theories were, how the process worked" (132:8 [R-Ap. 104]). Attorney Kohn also heeded the advice of Lilek's doctors to take plenty of time to patiently explain things to Lilek (132:45 [R-Ap. 141]).

As Attorney Kohn also testified, Lilek would bring up different episodes of "Matlock" during the plea discussions, showing that Lilek could remember the episodes and analogize them to the legal process at hand (132:23 [R-Ap. 119]). He "plugged right into" the show when they were talking about Lilek's case (132:23 [R-Ap. 119]).

At the end of the plea discussions, Lilek was able to "say back to us that which we had just explained to him" (132:15 [R-Ap. 111]), again demonstrating Lilek's capacity to

later recall what he had clearly understood at an earlier point in time. Indeed, Attorney Kohn testified he would not have allowed the plea hearing to go forward if he felt that Lilek did not understand at the time of the plea (132:19 [R-Ap. 115]).

Attorney Kohn ensured Lilek understood him by first explaining things to Lilek very thoroughly and then having Lilek tell him afterwards what Lilek understood about the concepts (132:33 [R-Ap. 129]). Lilek was able to explain back to Attorney Kohn the concepts they discussed on the plea form, and was not "just simply mimicking the answer that [Lilek] thought we were seeking by saying 'yes' or 'no" (*id.*). Lilek could actually tell Attorney Kohn "what he understood after we had talked about it before we moved on to the next line" on the plea questionnaire (132:34 [R-Ap. 130]).

Attorney Kohn also specifically testified that he believed Lilek's plea was knowing and voluntary at the time it was entered, because "what [Lilek] was saying in court that day [at the plea hearing] mirrored what I had gone through with him on the 12th and the week before" (132:48 [R-Ap. 144]). He believed that, "on a very basic level," Lilek understood what was going on during the plea hearing (132:49 [R-Ap. 145]).

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